The impact of small farms and local food producers for the regional development of remote areas in highly industrialized countries

Sören Padel

Table of contents

Summary	2
Historical Context	2
Economic Contributions	3
Enhancing Food Security	3
Job Creation and Economic	4
Local Economic Impact and Community Engagement	4
Social and Community Impacts	4
Economic and Social Benefits of Local Food Systems	4
Inclusion and Accessibility	5
Health Implications and Community Well-being	5
Challenges in Defining Local	5
Environmental Considerations	5
Challenges Faced by Small Farms	6
Economic Challenges	6
Climate Change	6
Lack of Infrastructure and Resources	7
Marketing Challenges	7
Case Studies	7
Local Food Production in Serbia	7
Economic Impacts of Local Food Systems	7
Role of Small Farms in Community Development	8
Innovative Practices and Training Initiatives	8
Future Prospects	8
References	9
Contact	11

Summary

Small farms and local food producers play a vital role in regional development, particularly in remote areas of highly industrialised countries. These entities contribute to local economies by enhancing food security, creating jobs, and promoting sustainable agricultural practices. As small farms often operate on limited scales, they can respond flexibly to local market demands, fostering resilience in food systems that can mitigate the impacts of global supply chain disruptions, as seen during the pandemic. Their capacity to adapt to changing market conditions is further underscored by their importance in fostering resilience in food systems. Small farms play a vital role in addressing community-specific needs through the cultivation of culturally appropriate crops, thus maintaining the social fabric of rural areas.

Despite their contributions, small farms face significant challenges, including economic instability, climate change, and limited access to resources and infrastructure. They frequently contend with narrow profit margins and the challenges of competing against larger, industrial agricultural operations, which can impede their ability to effectively market and distribute their products. Furthermore, the lack of a standardised definition for "local" food can complicate It is therefore essential that communities establish clear guidelines and expectations for local food initiatives to ensure that policy development does not impede the growth of local food systems.

The role of small farms extends beyond mere economic contributions; they also foster social cohesion and community engagement. Initiatives such as farmers' markets and community-supported agriculture (CSA) programs have been shown to boost civic involvement and foster a sense of pride among residents. However, disparities in access to local food can persist, especially for low-income populations, necessitating targeted efforts to promote inclusion and accessibility within local food systems.

As the future of agriculture evolves, small farms and local food producers are poised to remain vital players in regional development. In light of the ongoing shift in consumer preferences toward sustainable and local sourcing, there is significant potential for these entities to enhance economic resilience and environmental sustainability. However, success will depend on their ability to adapt to changing market conditions and collaborate with local stakeholders.

Historical Context

The significance of small farms and local food producers in regional development has evolved over time, particularly in the context of industrialisation and globalisation. The trajectory of high-value agriculture in developing countries can be traced through three distinct stages, beginning with the rise of export crops such as coffee, tea, rubber, and bananas over a century ago, which were typically cultivated on large plantations and marketed by major companies (Ekboir, 2024). This historical backdrop set the stage for ongoing transformations in agricultural practices and market dynamics.

The shift towards structural-adjustment programs in the 1980s, particularly fol-

lowing the debt crisis in Latin America, catalysed the liberalisation of markets and the downsizing of the public sector in many developing countries. This shift allowed for a rapid expansion of agricultural markets, fostering an environment in which smallholder farming began to be recognised for its potential contributions to food security and local economies (Ekboir, 2024). Despite this recognition, small-scale farmers often faced significant challenges, including limited access to resources and technology, which placed them at a disadvantage in the face of increasingly competitive global markets.

While the large-scale industrialisation of agriculture has yielded substantial increases in productivity, particularly through the Green Revolution in Asia and similar initiatives in the Americas and Europe, these advances have often overlooked the vital role of small farms. In fact, smallholder farms, defined as those operating on less than two hectares, are responsible for producing about one-third of the world's food supply (Chaverest, 2023). The importance of these farms is underscored by their ability to support local economies, create jobs, and enhance biodiversity in their surrounding environments (Chaverest, 2023; Azima, 2024).

Moreover, the resilience of small farms has become increasingly evident during crises, such as the COVID-19 crisis, which disrupted global food supply chains and highlighted the crucial role of local food systems in maintaining food security (Chaverest, 2023). Historical and contemporary studies suggest that consolidating farms in regions like India could significantly increase agricultural productivity and incomes, thereby bolstering economic growth (Cummings, 2022). This points to a dual narrative: while larger, industrialised farms dominate agricultural production, the historical context reveals that small farms have long been instrumental in providing livelihoods and fostering local development, particularly in rural and remote areas.

As such, the historical interplay between small-scale farming and broader economic trends illustrates the ongoing challenges and opportunities facing local food producers. Policymakers increasingly recognise the need for support systems that empower these farmers, as they are not only critical for ensuring food security but also essential for achieving sustainable development goals related to poverty reduction and environmental sustainability (Ramankutty, 2021; Azima, 2024).

Economic Contributions

The significance of small farms and local food producers in the economic landscape of remote areas, particularly in highly industrialised countries, cannot be overstated. These entities play a pivotal role in addressing food security and fostering local economies, thereby contributing to regional development.

Enhancing Food Security

Local food systems are essential for enhancing food security within communities. The World Food Summit of 1996 defined food security as existing "when all people at all times have access to sufficient, safe, nutritious food to maintain a healthy and active life" (Brinkmeyer et al., 2024). Community organising around local food initiatives can raise awareness of food insecurity and drive local solutions, especially during crises like the COVID-19 pandemic (Brinkmeyer et al., 2024). By prioritising the cultivation of culturally appropriate food, local producers help ensure that the needs of diverse populations are met.

Job Creation and Economic

Development Agricultural value chains are a primary source of employment in low and lower-middle-income countries, illustrating the economic potential of local food systems (Ekboir, 2024). The World Bank Group's commitment to supporting agricultural projects underscores the critical role these initiatives play in job creation and economic transformation. Specifically, local food production has been found to create jobs and stimulate greater spillover effects on the local economy compared to non local production (Divanbeigi and Fox, 2024).

Research indicates that local food systems can have a more significant positive impact on local GDP than conventional food systems, highlighting their potential to contribute to economic resilience in remote areas (Divanbeigi and Fox, 2024). Moreover, successful development efforts in local food production can yield substantial economic benefits, including higher profitability and sustainability for a range of farms and ranches (Cvijanović et al., 2020).

Local Economic Impact and Community Engagement

The integration of local food systems into community planning is becoming increasingly recognised as an engine for economic development (Slavikova, 2024). By fostering relation- ships between local independent retailers and producers, communities can create a competitive advantage through locally sourced foods, which can lead to more resilient supply chains (Cvijanović et al., 2020). Furthermore, the presence of food hubs can enhance the efficiency of local food supply chains, thus further contributing to economic development and community engagement (Cvijanović et al., 2020).

Social and Community Impacts

Economic and Social Benefits of Local Food Systems

Local food systems contribute significantly to social cohesion and economic resilience within communities. The establishment of direct-to-consumer markets, such as farmers markets and community-supported agriculture (CSA) programs, often results in a heightened sense of community and increased civic engagement. Community organising around local food initiatives fosters collective action, strengthens social ties, and enhances participation in local governance (Diekmann et al., 2020; Sturtevant, 2006). Research indicates that involvement in local food systems can lead to increased pride among residents and a sense of "civic duty," which further encourages participation in community life (Carolan, 2017; Rumble and Lundy, 2017).

Inclusion and Accessibility

Despite the benefits, local food markets can inadvertently exclude certain demographic groups, particularly low-income individuals and communities of colour. Factors such as pricing structures and the location and timing of market operations can limit access to local food (Freedman et al., 2016; Kato, 2013). To counteract these barriers, many communities have initiated programs aimed at empowering disadvantaged consumers. Examples include subsidised CSA shares for low-income families and the acceptance of SNAP-EBT at farmers markets, which helps to enhance purchasing power for those in need (Sitaker et al., 2020). Community gardens often donate surplus produce to food pantries, further addressing food insecurity in local populations (Algert et al., 2016).

Health Implications and Community Well-being

The health implications of local food systems are notable, particularly regarding access to fresh fruits and vegetables, which are essential for maintaining good health. Studies have linked participation in local food markets with improved health outcomes, such as lower rates of obesity and diabetes (Berning, 2012; Salois, 2012). However, it is important to note that while local food can improve access to nutritious options, the inherent health benefits are not guaranteed; healthier communities may simply be more inclined to engage with local food initiatives (Deller et al., 2017).

Challenges in Defining Local

Food The lack of a standardised definition for "local" food can complicate research and policy development regarding local food systems. The 2008 Farm Bill defines local food as that which is grown and transported within a radius of 400 miles or within the same state (Holcomb et al., 2018). However, variations in interpretation can lead to discrepancies in the perceived benefits of local food systems. It is crucial for communities to establish clear expectations regarding the qualities and benefits they seek from local food initiatives, ensuring that projects are designed to meet these specific needs and promote community goals (Stickel and Deller, 2014).

Environmental Considerations

The environmental impacts of agriculture, particularly intensive farming practices, have raised significant concerns regarding biodiversity loss, soil degradation, and water quality deterioration. The consequences of these practices include diminished biodiversity across various scales – ranging from soil organisms to domestic animal and crop species – and the alarming deforestation of native forests, which contributes to ecological instability (Dedieuet et al., 2022). Moreover, the increase in agricultural runoff due to synthetic fertilisers and livestock waste has been linked to contamination of water bodies, adversely affecting aquatic ecosystems and drinking water quality (Herren and Herlin., 2024).

In contrast, sustainable agriculture presents a viable solution that emphasises environmental stewardship. Practices such as crop rotation, cover cropping, and reduced tillage are central to maintaining soil health and fertility, which is crucial for long-term agricultural productivity (Slavikova, 2024). By promoting a diverse range of crops through techniques like poly-culture, sustainable farms can create ecosystems that are more resilient to pests, diseases, and climate fluctuations, ultimately fostering greater biodiversity on the farm (Mwato, 2024).

The ecological benefits of sustainable farming extend beyond just soil health. These practices are also instrumental in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and enhancing carbon sequestration, particularly through methods like agroforestry and conservation agriculture (Dedieuet et al., 2022; Green Pedal, 2023). Furthermore, sustainable farms often prioritise water conservation through efficient irrigation techniques, thereby mitigating water waste and preserving this critical resource for future generations (Slavikova, 2024).

Additionally, the integration of sustainable practices not only benefits the environment but also supports local economies and communities. By utilising locallysourced inputs and creating job opportunities, small farms can stimulate economic growth while simultaneously protecting and enhancing natural resources (Green Pedal, 2023). In this way, small farms and local food producers play a pivotal role in fostering regional development in remote areas, aligning agricultural productivity with ecological sustainability.

Challenges Faced by Small Farms

Small farms encounter a variety of challenges that can impede their ability to thrive and contribute effectively to local economies and communities. These challenges can be broadly categorised into economic, environmental, and infrastructural issues.

Economic Challenges

Small-scale farms often operate with narrow profit margins, making them vulnerable to financial instability. A single poor harvest, fluctuations in market prices, or unexpected expenses can have severe consequences for these farms (Chaverest, 2023). Research indicates that smaller farms, particularly those generating annual revenues under \$350,000, are more susceptible to financial difficulties when competing in wholesale markets. In contrast, those engaged in direct marketing, such as farmers' markets, tend to experience greater financial viability and job creation, generating nearly 32 jobs for every \$1 million in revenue compared to just 10.5 jobs for those relying solely on Wholesale channels (Dumont, 2024).

Climate Change

The impact of climate change presents a significant challenge for small farms. As weather patterns become increasingly unpredictable, small farms may struggle more than larger operations due to limited resources and technology (Chaverest, 2023; Dhillon and Moncur, 2024). Their reliance on traditional farming methods can exacerbate these vulnerabilities, especially when extreme weather events disrupt production or degrade soil health. Consequently, small farms face the dual challenge of adapting to changing climatic conditions while managing their already limited financial resources.

Lack of Infrastructure and Resources

In many regions, small farms contend with inadequate infrastructure that limits their access to markets and essential resources. Poor road conditions and limited transportation options can hinder the distribution of produce, making it difficult for these farms to reach broader consumer bases (UAC Davis, 2024). Additionally, many small farms lack the technological tools and educational resources necessary to implement innovative practices or improve productivity. This gap can result in missed opportunities for growth and sustainability, further entrenching economic disparities in rural areas (Divanbeigi and Fox, 2024; Dedieuet et al., 2022).

Marketing Challenges

Marketing poses another significant barrier for small farms. Limited exposure to larger market channels and competition from industrial agriculture often puts small producers at a disadvantage. The underdevelopment of local food markets can restrict their ability to sell directly to consumers, which is critical for their economic survival (Dhillon and Moncur, 2024; UAC Davis, 2024). Many small farmers also struggle with understanding consumer preferences and effectively promoting their products, leading to difficulties in capturing local market share.

Case Studies

Local Food Production in Serbia

A study conducted in Serbia highlights the perceptions surrounding local food pro-ducts and their potential impact on regional development. By analysing the views of two distinct groups associated with the Baka Development Agency and the Institute of Food Technology, researchers were able to draw conclusions that address developmental inequalities and employment challenges in local communities (Cvijanović et al., 2020). The findings indicate that local food production can contribute significantly to economic development, as consumer interest in value-added food products has increased, suggesting a shift towards local sourcing (Cvijanović et al., 2020).

Economic Impacts of Local Food Systems

Research utilising a local food impact calculator demonstrated that expanding local food systems can stimulate economic benefits across various sectors, particularly in food services and retail (Cvijanović et al., 2020). This investigation revealed that local food operations not only create jobs but also yield larger economic spillover effects compared to non-local production (Cvijanović et al., 2020). The analysis further established that profitable local food producers exist across diverse market channels, indicating that viable business models can be developed for farms operating within this niche (Cvijanović et al., 2020).

Role of Small Farms in Community Development

Small farms play a crucial role in local communities, serving as engines for economic resilience and sustainability. They contribute to job creation and bolster local economies by fostering connections between residents and their land (Chaverest, 2023). The COVID-19 crisis underscored the importance of small farms when global supply chains faltered, highlighting their capacity to provide essential food and sustain local economies during crises (Chaverest, 2023).

Innovative Practices and Training Initiatives

Efforts to support small farms include the development of sustainable practices and training programs aimed at enhancing productivity and resilience. These initiatives not only empower farmers but also facilitate collaboration among them, thereby strengthening community ties (Chaverest, 2023). The integration of small-scale agriculture into local economic strategies is increasingly recognised by municipal planners, emphasising the need for tailored approaches that consider the unique characteristics of local food systems (Cvijanović et al., 2020; Chaverest, 2023).

By illustrating the vital contributions of local food producers and small farms, these case studies underline their importance in fostering regional development, especially in remote areas of highly industrialised countries.

Future Prospects

The future of small farms and local food producers in the context of regional development, particularly in remote areas of highly industrialised countries, hinges on their ability to adapt and thrive amid growing demands for agricultural products. Over the next half-century, the agricultural sector is expected to witness rapid growth to meet the needs of an increasingly affluent global economy (Ekboir, 2024). Achieving this growth will require not only the enhancement of yields through scientific advancements but also strategic investments in infrastructure and effective financial instruments that mitigate risks (Ekboir, 2024). Additionally, fostering changes in institutional attitudes and practices will be critical for the rapid adoption of new technologies and flexible business models.

In this landscape, the merging of smaller farms into larger units may serve as a benchmark for success. This transition could facilitate a generational shift, allowing entrepreneurial farmers to acquire land from traditional landowners, thus enabling the evolution of farming practices that are more suited to modern market demands Ekboir, 2024). However, the uneven distribution of managerial and business capabilities among farmers poses a challenge. Research indicates that only a small fraction of small farmers possess the requisite skills to navigate high-value markets, which may exacerbate inequalities in asset distribution and hinder poverty alleviation efforts (Ekboir, 2024). Moreover, the local food movement is anticipated to continue its growth, with estimates suggesting that sales of local food in the United States have nearly doubled in recent years (Brinkmeyer et al., 2024). The economic benefits of local food systems, including the multiplier effect, suggest that spending on local food can stimulate additional local economic activity (Brinkmeyer et al., 2024). Nevertheless, the impact of local food purchases on overall spending patterns is complex, with some analyses indicating that these purchases may simply redirect funds from other local markets rather than representing new economic activity (Brinkmeyer et al., 2024).

As communities increasingly emphasise health and wellness, the role of local food systems in enhancing community health is gaining attention. Direct-toconsumer markets have been linked to improved health outcomes, such as weight loss and lower rates of chronic diseases, although causation remains a topic of discussion (Brinkmeyer et al., 2024). Consumer definitions of local food are diverse and can vary significantly based on factors like distance, production methods, and marketing strategies (Brinkmeyer et al., 202; Cvijanović et al., 2020). As consumer preferences evolve, small farms and local producers must remain agile, potentially expanding their product offerings and market reach to stay relevant.

Looking forward, small farms and local food producers could play a pivotal role in regional development by not only contributing to local economies but also by enhancing community resilience through diversified production practices and innovative marketing strategies. Their success will likely depend on their ability to collaborate with local stakeholders, embrace technological advancements, and adapt to changing consumer preferences (Ekboir, 2024).

References

Algert, S., Diekmann, L., Renvall, M. & Gray, L. (2016). Community and home gardens increase vegetable intake and food security of residents in San Jose, California. California Agriculture, 70(2), 77–82. doi:10.3733/ca.v070n02p77.

Azima, S. (2024). Local food systems need to prioritize job quality alongside ethical food production. The Conversation. http://theconversation.com/local-food-systems-need-to-prioritize-job-quality-alongside-ethical-food-production-229100 [2024-11-17].

Berning, J. P. (2012). Access to Local Agriculture and Weight Outcomes. Agricultural and Resource Economics Review, 41(1), 57–71. doi:10.1017/S1068280500004184.

Brinkmeyer, E., Dankbar, H. & Bloom, D. (2024). Local Food Systems: Clarifying Current Research | NC State Extension Publications. https://content.ces. ncsu.edu/local-food-systems-clarifying-current-research [2024-11-17].

Carolan, M. (2017). More-than-Active Food Citizens: A Longitudinal and Comparative Study of Alternative and Conventional Eaters. Rural Sociology, 82(2), 197–225. doi:10.1111/ruso.12120.

Chaverest, E. L. (2023). Supporting small farms: how protecting local farms can protect local communities. Futurum.

Cummings, M. (2022). Prevalence of small farms hinders economic growth in developing countries. YaleNews. https://news.yale.edu/2022/01/19/prevalence-small-farms-hinders-economic-growth-developing-countries [2024-11-17].

Cvijanović, D., Ignjatijević, S., Vapa Tankosić, J. & Cvijanović, V. (2020). Do Local Food Products Contribute to Sustainable Economic Development? Sustainability, 12(7), 2847. doi:10.3390/su12072847.

Dedieu, B., Contzen, S., Nettle, R., Schiavi, S. M. de A. & Sraïri, M. T. (2022). The Multiple Influences on the Future of Work in Agriculture: Global Perspectives. Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems, 6 889508. doi:10.3389/fsufs.2022.889508.

Deller, S. C., Lamie, D. & Stickel, M. (2017). Local foods systems and community economic development. Community Development, 48(5), 612–638. doi:10.1080/15575330.2017.1373136.

Deller, S., Canto, A. & Brown, L. (2017). Food access, local foods, and community health. Community Development, 48(5), 657–680. doi:10.1080/15575330.2017.1358197.

Dhillon, R. & Moncur, Q. (2023). Small-Scale Farming: A Review of Challenges and Potential Opportunities Offered by Technological Advancements. Sustainability, 15(21), 15478. doi:10.3390/su152115478. Divanbeigi, R. & Fox, L. (2022). What have we learned about job creation in crop agriculture? | Independent Evaluation Group. https://ieg.worldbankgroup.org/blog/what-have-we-learned-about-job-creation-crop-agriculture [2024-11-17].

Dumont, A. (2024). The Economic Impact of Locally Produced Food. https://www.stlouisfed.org/on-the-economy/2017/december/economic-impact-locally-produced-food [2024-11-17].

Ekboir, J. (2024). Development 2.0 – Small Farms as the Engine for Emerging Market Economies. Milken Institute Review. https://www.milkenreview. org/articles/development-2-0-small-farms-as-the-engine-for-emerging-market-economies [2024-11-17].

Freedman, D. A., Vaudrin, N., Schneider, C., Trapl, E., Ohri-Vachaspati, P., Taggart, M., Cascio, M. A., Walsh, C. & Flocke, S. (2016). Systematic Review of Factors Influencing Farmers' Market Use Overall and among Low-Income Populations. Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 116(7), 1136–1155. doi:10.1016/j.jand.2016.02.010.

Green Pedal (2023). Farming Responsibly: 10 Sustainable Agricultural Practices That Make a Difference - Green Pedal. https://greenpedal.org/blog/farming-responsibly-10-sustainable-agricultural-practices-that-make-a-difference [2024-11-17].

Herren, H. & Haerlin, B. (2024). Industrial Agriculture and Small-scale Farming. Industrial Agriculture and Small-scale Farming. https://www.globalagriculture.org/report-topics/industrial-agriculture-and-small-scale-farming.html [2024-11-17].

Kato, Y. (2024). Not Just the Price of Food: Challenges of an Urban Agriculture Organization in Engaging Local Residents - Kato - 2013 - Sociological Inquiry - Wiley Online Library. https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/soin.12008 [2024-11-17].

Mwato, M. (2024). Sustainable Farming Practices for Small-Scale Farmers.

https://www.bivatec.com/blog/sustainable-farming-practices-for-small-scale-farmers [2024-11-17]. Ramankutty, N. (2021). Are Small Farms Better? Research Communities by Springer Nature. http://sustainabilitycommunity. springernature.com/posts/are-small-farms-better [2024-11-17].

Rumble, J. & Lundy, L. (2017). Examining Consumer Attitudes and Cultural Indicators Surrounding Local Food. Journal of Extension, 55(6), doi:10.34068/joe.55.06.50.

Salois, M. J. (2012). Obesity and diabetes, the built environment, and the 'local' food economy in the United States, 2007. Economics & Human Biology, 10(1), 35–42. doi:10.1016/j.ehb.2011.04.001.

Sitaker, M., McCall, M., Kolodinsky, J., Wang, W., Ammerman, A., Bulpitt, K., Pitts, S. J., Hanson, K., Volpe, L. & Seguin-Fowler, R. (2020). Helping Farmers with Continuation Planning for Cost-Offset Community Supported Agriculture to Low-Income Families. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development, 9(4), 93–112. doi:10.5304/jafscd.2020.094.037.

Slavikova (2024). 10 Sustainable Farming Methods and Practices | Greentumble.

Stickel, M. & Deller, S. (2020). Local Foods and Local Economic Performance. Applied Economic Perspectives and Policy, 42(2), 335–357. doi:10.1002/aepp.13015.

UAC Davis (2024). Developing Countries and the Future of Small-scale Agriculture | Feed the Future Innovation Lab for Markets, Risk and Resilience. https: //basis.ucdavis.edu/developing-countries-and-future-small-scale-agriculture [2024-11-17].

Contact

Sören Padel Nybyggare.eu

c/o Svansele Grönt

Svansele 2

936 93 Boliden

Sverige / Sweden / Schweden

2024